


Chapter 4 | 1955–1977

The Charitable Purse * Young People’s Committees for JNF-UK * Biranit * The Korazim Region * Ma’ale Hagilboa * Ma’alot * Netua * Young Couples for JNF (Fellowship) * Vision * Developing the ‘Arava * Anti-Israel protest * Freedom Forest * Royal Backing * Monfort Park * Clash with the JIA * Ladies and Gentlemen, an Upset! * The Segev Bloc

In the second half of the 1950s, the JNF celebrated its golden jubilee in control of 350,000 hectares of land in Israel, 16 percent of the country’s territory. Most of it still awaited development and preparation for settlement and afforestation and relied on donation money from the Diaspora for that purpose. The UK Commission, which never perceived its role solely as a philanthropic middleman that raised funds and sent them on to Israel, continued indefatigably to invent and initiate new activities and events that would strengthen Zionist education and affiliation and, by so doing, further the national effort and solidify and cement the community’s ongoing feeling of responsibility for the goals of the JNF, the State, and inhabitants of Israel. As part of its activity in synagogues, for example, on 15 January 1955—the Sabbath on which the Torah portion Shemot (which concerns the onset of the Exodus from slavery to freedom) was read—was designated ‘Jewish National Fund Day’. On this occasion, rabbis were asked to speak to their congregations in praise of the Fund and to stress its importance.
[p. 120, 3 photos]
To enable young people to get to know Israel and experience it up close, the Commission, in conjunction with the Hehaluts administration and the Zionist Youth Council of the UK, organised summer camps in Israel for those aged 16–18. The participants sailed to Israel aboard Zim ships and when they reached the coveted destination, they spent four weeks exploring and studying the land. These excursions gained much popularity and became a permanent tradition in the Commission’s annual activities. Not only young people found them pleasurable and interesting. Organised trips were arranged for the community’s older members as well, using El Al flights and staying in prestigious hotels in Herzliya, Haifa, and Jerusalem.
The Education and Youth Department may have been the busiest of the Commission’s departments. In addition to organising activities around Jewish festivals and providing study materials for the advancement of Hebrew and Zionist education in day schools, it expanded the range of activities that it initiated, such as sports days, knowledge contests, and festivities and parties that attracted hundreds of participants. Noticing the centrality of the Department among the young, the Commission took action to centralise and manage the entire field of Jewish youth activity in the UK. To this end, it set up a large seminar to which the leaders of Zionist youth councils and associations in the UK were invited. Although the seminar issued a call for unification, this did not happen due to ideological differences and divergent interests among the organisations. Nevertheless, the seminar resulted in much cooperation among the organisations, in which thousands of youths took part. In May 1955, for instance, 1,000 young people from eight different youth organisations participated in the Israel Independence Day festivities. In the course of that event, the Chief Rabbi of the UK [כן?] lauded the British pioneers who had helped to establish the State of Israel and expressed the hope that many others would follow. At large-scale parties, the youth movements put on comedy plays and performances, danced and sang, and often concluded with mass horas outside the London clubs.[footnoteRef:1] These youth movements, with Habonim at their lead, were precious assets that the Commission felt should be nurtured not only for fundraising purposes but also, and mainly, because they embodied its future and enriched its activities with energy. They generated a vigorous, young, and grassroots (and even entertaining) image, ensured greater diversity of activities, and broadened the range of fundraising methods. For example, Habonim, as part of an ‘odd jobs’ month, volunteered to paint houses, babysit, wash cars, and tend to people’s gardens, donating all proceeds to the Commission. [1:  JC, 6 May 1955.] 

[p. 121: 2 photos]
Activity at the Events Department also flourished, its ambit of social and cultural events becoming impressive scope. In June 1955, the Commission lent its patronage to the first European concert tour of the Israel Philharmonic Orchestra, with all proceeds from the Orchestra’s twelve concerts in the UK accruing to the Charitable Fund. Given this success, the sponsorship of visits of the Philharmonic in the UK became a tradition that lasted many years. Concurrently, the Department held a gala for the UK premiere of Hill 24 Doesn’t Answer, the largest Israeli film released to that time. It was a smashing success throughout Britain and all proceeds from the first three screenings were handed over to the Commission.
[Photos, p. 122]
Another proven success was the increasingly popular ‘adoption’ of personal projects, in which the JNF appropriated projects of community organisations or committees that commemorated someone’s personal endeavours or reflected appreciation or commemoration of a personality in the community. [לא מובן לי—לאישור המחברת] This activity provided a unique level of impactful visibility and plaques honouring of the British provincial committees for their contributions were scattered throughout Israel. One modus operandi was applied to all personal projects. First, a commission was asked to match a project to a specific budget. Second, the project—a bridge, developing a segment of a road, planting a grove of trees or a forest, draining a marsh, or installing water infrastructure—was festively announced at a central fundraising event, followed by sundry fundraising events over the next year or two. Third, after enough money was raised to ensure the realisation of the project, a ceremony was held in Israel with the participation of a mission from the UK. In honour of that occasion, a prominent sign announcing the future project was posted. Projects of this nature included the expansion of Kefar Hanitzahon,[footnoteRef:2] an immigrants’ quarter just outside Hadar Ramatayim in the Sharon region. In the aftermath of the project, the neighborhood was renamed Ganei Zvi in memory of Lord Harry (Zvi) Morris (1st Baron Morris of Kenwood, 1893–1954), a passionate supporter of the JNF from the time it was founded. Another example was a bridge over the western canal of the Huleh Lake drainage project, built with funds donated by the Southend and Westcliff Commission in honour of Yitzhak and Esther Friedman and the Leeds Commission’s funding the planting of a forest in honour of Selig Brodetzky at ‘Ein Hashofet. Commemoration was also a very persuasive element in the activities of the Wills and Legacies Department and its messages to potential donors, encouraging them to commemorate themselves eternally in Israel. [2:  An immigrants’ quarter next to Hadar Ramatayim, established during the War of Independence. On the occasion of the renaming, JNF land that would suffice for sixty dwellings was attached to the neighborhood and its 140 existing dwellings. See Davar, 31 January 1956. ] 

[P. 122, photo caption, bottom: Figure 66: Lady Morris at the naming ceremony of the Ganei Zvi neighborhood, in memory of her late husband. Source: JNF Photo Archive]
Activity at the Commission’s subsidiary, KKL ET, also grew visibly. In 1955, the Trust began to market, alongside its consulting services in matters related to wills and legacies, a new program called the Charitable Purse, which offered members of the community advisory and aid services for the effective management of their annual donations to religious, educational, health, and charitable institutions and for maximising the tax exemption that they would receive on account of these contributions.
The final conference for 1955 was attended by a record 450 activists representing seventy-four provincial commissions in Britain and Ireland, in addition to hundreds of guests who came to hear heart-rending speeches about the need to continue diligently supporting the fledgling State of Israel. Israel, the attendees were told, was coping with many challenges—mass immigration, economic hardship, and, above all, continual threats to its security. If so, the need for help from the Diaspora as a partner of the State, as the role of the JNF, did not diminish when statehood was attained. In fact, the needs became more relevant and palpable than ever: expanding settlement in new and frontier areas, placing immigrants from northern Africa in agricultural work, preparing land, and engaging in afforestation and development projects. At the dignitaries’ dais at this conference, against the background of gigantic maps showing the JNF’s afforestation projects, the Commission took pride in the eighteen forests that had been planted with funding from British Jewry and festively announced the transfer of a record £830,000 to the administration in Jerusalem. About one-third of the sum had been obtained in traditional ways: recording of names in the Golden Book, Blue Boxes, and donations for tree-planting. The rest came from proceeds of the Joint Appeal, various social events, and wills and legacies.
[p. 124, Figure 68: the Commission’s building at Southampton Row. Note the gigantic Jewish National Fund sign at the street front. Source: London Picture Archive.]
[Figure 67: inaugurating the Independence Forest, January 1958. Source: JNF Photo Archive]
At the end of the conference, a central campaign for the coming two and a half years was announced. Its goal was to raise £500,000 for the planting of a forest of a million and a half trees in the Simon Marks sector of the Lachish Region, to be called the Independence Forest. (It was subsequently merged with another Commission initiative— Park Britannia, which I discuss at length in the next chapter)—as the community’s gift to Israel on its tenth anniversary and as a way of promoting the development of the Jerusalem corridor as a place of settlement and employment for recent immigrants.[footnoteRef:3] The forest was dedicated in January 1958 in a ceremony attended by a delegation of senior Commission officials. Donations for the planting and expansion of the forest, including the construction of a fire outlook station and leisure and recreation facilities, continued until the early 1970s, a lengthy list of donors participating. [3:  CZA, KKL6/95, final report of the Commission’s thirty-first annual conference, 29–30 November 1955.] 

The Joint Appeal (aka the Joint Palestine Appeal because the word ‘Palestine’ still appeared in its name) also generated impressive proceeds, mainly because those in charge chose to target only middle-class people of means and to do so directly. This secured the image of the appeal as a closed-membership rich men’s club of sorts.[footnoteRef:4] In its approach to this community of donors, the Joint Appeal emphasised the earmarking of the proceeds for assistance to localities where British immigrants to Israel were living (among other uses); it increasingly became clear that to market Zionist pioneering it was necessary to show the outcomes of the donations and the practical participation of British Jewry in Zionist action, particularly among young people who were turning to collective and cooperative settlements. A unique pride of sorts in British Zionist pioneering opened the donors’ wallets. [4:  For the history of the JPA’s solicitation methods, see JC, 18 October 1968.] 

[p. 125. Figure 69: Blue Box advertisement, April 1956.]
The wellspring of activities that the Commission initiated did not seem to have run dry. Indeed, it continued to deliver a flow of new ideas that had one purpose only: to strengthen the entire community’s connection with and guarantee for Israel. Thus, the approach was tailored to the characteristics of each stratum of the community. Some of the events were adoptions of initiatives undertaken in Israel, such as the Jerusalem Flag Festival, started up by the Council of Teachers for the JNF in Jerusalem. Every year, a flag prepared for Menahem Ussishkin by the Jerusalem community committee in 1932 was presented for the year to the school that had outperformed all others in its service for the JNF.[footnoteRef:5] In Britain, this tradition was adopted only in 1956, the prize going to the school that stood out the most in its activity for the JNF and that had donated the largest number of trees relative to its enrollment.[footnoteRef:6] [5:  The flag was presented to Ussishkin on the occasion of his seventieth birthday. ]  [6:  JC, 10 February 1956.] 

After Sigmund Gestetner’s death, the treasurer, Michael Sacher, succeeded him as president of the Commission. His widow, Chana [Hannah?], accepted an invitation to serve as vice president and co-treasurer. To commemorate Gestetner, it was decided to conduct a special campaign to raise funds for the development and preparation of land for Kefar Aviezer, which had been settled by a core group from the Hapoel Hamizachi movement.
[p. 126. Figure 70: Sign at the entrance to Kefar Aviezer.]
The leaders of Zionist organisations in the UK were constantly concerned about the unstable security situation in the fledging State of Israel. They expressed this concern regularly as part of their promotion of the community feeling of responsibility to the State. Their worries proved well-placed as the rearmament of the Egyptian Army, backed by Jordan and Syria, came into full view in the autumn of 1956. When British forces at the Suez Canal withdrew and Egypt nationalised the Suez Canal Company, Israeli vessels lost the ability to pass through the Straits of Tiran. On 29 October 1956, Israel launched Operation Kadesh in order to ensure its freedom of shipping in the Straits, stop terror operations from Gaza and Egypt, and force Egypt to conclude a peace treaty. The operation was undertaken with the backing and cooperation of the UK and France, who sought to topple Nasser’s regime and restore their control of the canal. The campaign ended a mere eight days later with a great success for the Israeli Army and the image of the young country, even though Israel’s strategic aims were not fully attained.
[p. 126: photo]
Proud of the success of the operation, the Joint Appeal moved up its kickoff, now defining its campaign as an emergency one given requests from Jerusalem to double the target to £2.5 million. The community responded at once, donating more than £600,000 (!) within a week. Concurrently, 400 activists from the Commission and the Joint Appeal were summoned by urgent cable to a meeting at the Dorchester Hotel with Yigael Yadin, the second Chief of Staff of the Israel Defense Forces, who brought a large map and used it to describe the battle that had taken place in the Sinai Peninsula. The effort paid off, as 1957 saw another record with 50,000 new subscribers, and as a result, the Commission forwarded £854,000 to Jerusalem that year.[footnoteRef:7] [7:  JC, 16 November 1956. ] 

The next central campaign, decided upon in 1957, set the target at £675,000 for the development of 1,700 hectares in the Adullam region, a wedge of land between the Jordanian border, the Jerusalem corridor, and the Lachish region. The development of this area was part of the policy of the Jewish Agency Rural Settlement Department, in conjunction with the JNF, to ready this 10,000-hectare strip for the establishment of twelve to fourteen new settlements. As part of this effort, the Commission assumed responsibility for funding land preparation, roadbuilding, and afforestation for four settlements—all in the northeastern quadrant of the area—where Kefar Aviezer was situated. Granovsky (now Granott), the chair of JNF, did not conceal his satisfaction with the JNF’s activity and the strong partnership, which, he said, set an example for the rest of the Diaspora.[footnoteRef:8] [8:  JC, 8 November and 15 November 1957.] 

[p. 127. Figure 71: Recording names in the Golden Book, 1957]
[Figure 72: Recently arrived immigrants approach their new home in the Adullam region, 1958]
From its perch in faraway Britain, the Commission keenly tracked the intensive discussions that took place between the Government of Israel and the JNF administration to systematise the management of land affairs in the country. The JNF sought the exclusive right to develop and afforest land in Israel and, after protracted negotiations, the sides concluded an agreement in October 1958 for the establishment of the Israel Lands Administration as the manager of both State lands those belonging to the JNF, each side retaining ownership of its respective land assets. Part of the accord provided for the passage by the government of a Basic Law concerning national land that would safeguard the JNF’s founding principle of allowing its lands to be leased but never sold.[footnoteRef:9] At the annual conference at the Savoy Hotel, held in October 1958, the Commission welcomed the historical pact, which recognised the JNF’s authority as an independent state-public institution with broad responsibilities for the development and preparation of land and afforestation in Israel. [9:  In regard to the JNF Law, see Yossi Katz, Ve-ha-arets lo timakher la-tsemitut: Moreshet ha-Keren ha-Kayemet le-Yisrael ve-hahalat ‘ekronoteha be-hakika be-Yisrael (Ramat Gan and Jerusalem: The Chair for the Study of the History and Activities of the Jewish National Fund (KKL), Bar-Ilan University, and the Institute for Study of the History of the JNF, 2002.
] 

[p. 128. Figure 73: Savoy Hotel in London, where most of the Commission’s annual conferences in central events in the 1940s, 1950s, and 1960s took place]
[Figure 74: The Jewish Chronicle, 1 May 1959]
In the late 1950s, when Israel’s first decade of existence was celebrated, the status of the UK Commission was strong. JNF-UK was more popular than ever, covering nearly all parts of the British Isles and producing a variety of social activities for all levels of the community—children, teens, and young and older adults. The reports from the annual conferences at the prestigious Savoy Hotel, held over a two-day weekend in November (from Saturday night to Sunday so as not to desecrate the Sabbath), attracted esteemed guests from Israel and leaders of the community and received prominent front-page attention in the Jewish Chronicle. Each year, the Commission could point to more and more events and activities that became lasting traditions, such as the national bridge tournament, first organised in 1959, and the national (subsequently international) quiz in Bible and Judaism. In the latter, children up to age fourteen from schools in Belgium, France, the Netherlands, Italy, and Switzerland were invited to compete with counterparts from Britain. The Commission’s activities also attracted young adults, who established more and more councils each year. The successor generation, flush with energy to get involved, initiated in 1959 the formation of a study mission to Israel—which again would become a tradition for many years at the Commission. Such initiatives assured the continuity of the Commission’s commitment to the maintenance of a warm and close relationship between the community and Israel.
[Photo, 129 top]
[Figure 75, p. 128: Forest in honour of Sophie Geneen of Glasgow, Scotland, planted in the Judean Hills in 1958.]
The Commission’s stability was also strongly manifested in its organisational structure, its departments’ systematic working procedures, and its ongoing relations with the council of London commissions and the many dozens of other peripheral commissions. The two subsidiaries that operated in conjunction with the Commission—the charitable fund (JNF CT), with its hundreds of new pledges annually, and the estates and trusts management company (KKL ET), which routed a third of its revenues via JNF CT, were in fact a single unit composed of two complementary wings. They added many aspects to the Commission’s work and, above all, maximised the potential of its donation income. Even though the traditional modes of donating, with which the Commission was so strongly identified, yielded relatively paltry revenues, the Commission considered them the basis of its operation. They symbolised the grassroots relationship of a broad swath of the community with Israel. Sometimes Christians shared this support, as in the case of the Christadelphian sect (mentioned in Chapter 1), which continued to request and received films and pamphlets about JNF operations and placed Blue Boxes in members’ homes.
[p. 129. Photo and Figure 75: Distribution of Blue Boxes in Christadelphians’ homes, April 1959]
As stated, the late 1950s saw an impressive increase in new provincial commissions that joined the Commission. Most were composed of young people (aged 18–30) and these twenty-five or so entities injected new spirit into pro-JNF activity in the UK, making the Commission more relevant and attractive than ever. In fact, the integration of young people into the Commission’s matrix of activity became a model that was adopted in other Diaspora countries. In view of the impressive increase in the number of young people’s commissions, the panels adopted singular and even funny names (‘The Syndicate’, ‘Arava ’66 Executives’). In 1958, Trevor Chinn, Conrad Morris, and Shmuel Lowensohn— all three in their early twenties and the offspring of important Commission officials—initiated the establishment of a central young people’s commission as a separate organisation titled YJNF—Younger Commissions of Great Britain and Ireland, under the presidency of Chinn fils. Acting under the slogan that they had adopted, ‘Social life for a purpose’, they established alternative social circles for those in their age group. They began to hold annual conferences of their own and set separate targets for fundraising and support of projects in Israel that were oriented to the young—usually, but not necessarily, in correlation with their elders’ projects.
[Photo, p. 130]
Now that the young people had an independent commission of their own, the main Commission should be seen as having acquired two centres of gravity—veteran and young—that pursued the same goal but did so on separate channels. The Commission welcomed the young people’s involvement with much satisfaction, viewing them as the successor generation even when the young did not spare various behaviors or decisions by the elders from criticism, such as the demand to prioritise advertising in the Jewish Chronicle over other community media, or in seeking greater transparency about spending.[footnoteRef:10] [10:  `JC, 18 March 1960.] 

The young held special activities appropiate to their age group that became traditions for years onward—sports days held mainly at the youth movements’ training farm, and a Youth Week, in which the message was not only solidarity but the cooperation of young British Jews with their counterparts in Israel. Under the slogan ‘The youth of Britain works with the youth of Israel’, organised trips to Israel were put together, during which participants attended lectures and met with their contemporaries. A ‘Queen JNF’ contest—an initiative born in Glasgow in 1959 that became a tradition—was held, in which the chosen queen was the most active woman member of the YJNF and the possessor of special capabilities; it became a national competition among the various young people’s commissions until the final round, in which the queen’s participation in a young people’s visit to Israel was subsidised. The YJNF’s endeavours not only attracted additional young people to work with the JNF but also created a platform for cross-community social encounters and acquaintanceships that ripened into proposals of marriage. The YJNF evolved into the largest young people’s movement in the UK in the 1960s and 1970s, a pressure group that prevailed on the Chief Rabbi of the UK to display a bit of flexibility in allowing them to hold an Israel Independence Day party during the counting of the Omer.[footnoteRef:11] [11:  JC, 1 November 1963.] 

[p. 131, 2 photos]
[Figure 77: Golfers dedicate the club in Yodfat, 1961]
In September 1959, the YJNF organised the first national golf championship tournament for Jewish clubs, sponsored by the Jewish Chronicle. Eighty-eight golfers from all eighteen Jewish golf associations in the UK signed up. The amount collected in the tournament was pledged to aid in setting up an agricultural experimental station at Yodfat, in the Galilee. The production of such an event was of social importance, of course, but concurrently it generated handsome revenue for the YJNF by the sale of tickets. Golf tournaments also became a years-long tradition at the YJNF, the golfers themselves becoming an important group in the youth commission’s activity. The members mobilised to adopt their own projects in an ongoing and consistent manner, as they did in Yodfat in 1961 by helping to establish a club there.
At the thirty-first annual conference of the Commission, held in November 1959, Rosser Chinn was elected the new president. Although revenues had slumped relative to the two previous years, a new flagship project for the coming two years was announced at the gathering: a target of £800,000 for the development, afforestation, and establishment of the Biranit settlement in the Upper Galilee, near the Lebanese border. Biranit was intended to serve as a rural hub for localities in the area as part of a program called S.O.S. Galilee,[footnoteRef:12] jointly worked up by the Jewish Agency Rural Settlement Department, the JNF, and the finance minister of Israel at the time, Levi Eshkol, to inject momentum into land preparation for rural settlement in the Galilee. Some said that the scheme was called S.O.S. because these were the Hebrew initials of the expression sof-sof, at long last—because, after years of vacillation and hesitation, the institutions finally turned their attention to settling the highlands across from Lebanon.[footnoteRef:13] [12:  CZA, KKL5/24233, report of the 35th Annual Conference, November 1959.]  [13:  KKL historical website, https://www.kkl.org.il/history/history-by-decades/1961-1970/ ] 

[p. 132, photo]
The commissions in London and the peripheral towns immediately mobilised for the fundraising effort. In March 1960, a mission of a hundred YJNF activists from Liverpool and Merseyside arrived for the ceremonial planting of the first trees in the Liverpool Forest at Biranit. The YJNF committee in Manchester adopted a project involving the revitalisation and development of Hurshat Tal[footnoteRef:14] in the Galilee Panhandle, proposing to raise £30,000 over a two-year period, and the planting of a Young People’s Forest at Adullam was set in motion. In August 1960, ninety-two young people attended the dedication of the two projects.[footnoteRef:15] Four months previously, another forest was planted at Adullam with 30,000 trees using funds donated by British Jewry in honour of Eliahu Elath and his wife upon the conclusion of Eliahu’s service as the Israeli ambassador to Britain. This trend—continued support and development of the Commission’s flagship projects for years after the endeavour was completed—would recur in future projects that the Commission would undertake. [14:  CZA, KKL/50384, correspondence with the head office concerning the condition of Hurshat Tal, 20 April 1971. ]  [15:  Ha’aretz, 5 August 1960. ] 

[p. 122. 2 photos and Figure 21. Chinn at the ceremony in Biranit, 1964.]
[Figure 79: Signing the covenant.]
In July 1960, the Knesset passed two land-related bills into law—the Israel Lands Law and the Israel Lands Administration Law. The purpose of both was to create a partnership between the State and the JNF in land policy, management, and development, with the partners—the State, the development authority, and the JNF—retaining ownership of their respective lands. Over the entirety of the real estate, which accounted for 90 percent of the whole country, the injunction against ever selling the land would apply (with some exceptions). By force of the new statutes, it was decided to establish an Israel Lands Administration as the managerial arm of the partnership and to set up a special department at the JNF titled the Land Development Administration, tasked with preparing land for settlement, afforestation, and drainage. The details of the arrangement between the Government of Israel and the World Zionist Organisation were anchored in a covenant signed in November 1961 by the Minister of Finance, Levi Eshkol, and Jacob Tsur, appointed in April of that year as the new chair of the JNF Board of Directors in lieu of Granott. Yosef Weitz was chosen the first director of the Israel Lands Administration concurrent with his post as chair of the JNF Land Development Council.
The 1960s began with the conclusion of a financial compensation settlement—after ten years (!)—for participants in the Garden Cities 1–4 schemes, which, as mentioned, had fallen through. The JNF administration in Jerusalem, in conjunction with the Israel Land Development Corporation and the Ministry of Finance, worked out an agreement with the chair of the Farm City association, Ernest Harris, to convert the value of the donations into IL1,250 in bonds against each £250 that had been paid in the 1940s, in ten annual installments plus 5 percent interest by the end of December 1969. Most members of the association approved the agreement and the ILDC bonds, worth IL723,250, were transferred to the participants. The installments were made in proper sequence for the first two years, but subsequent problems due to exchange-rate differentials required the intervention of the Israeli ambassador to the UK.[footnoteRef:16] In September 1962, Hyman (H.J.) Osterley, the Commission’s treasurer, was also approached to help solve the crisis because depreciation of the Israeli currency had devalued the bonds badly. The Commission did intervene and the participants received further compensation of £208 in cash. Thus, the last nail was pounded into the coffin of the Garden Cities programs.[footnoteRef:17] The Association itself was delisted from the Register of Companies in mid-1967. [16:  CZA, KKL6/43, report by the historian of the Farm City program, 28 June 1962. The details of the settlement also/appeared in an item in JC, 13 May 1960.]  [17: .CZA, KKL6/43, from Osterley, treasurer of the JNF Commission, to Adv. Ussishkin (son of the late Menahem Ussishkin), legal advisor to the JNF, 24 September 1962.] 

[p. 134. Photo and Figure 22: A 13th Independence Day gift: the Lady Mountbatten Forest in the hills of Nazareth, 1961. Source: JNF Photo Archive]
[Figure 80: Lady Mountbatten on her wedding day, 1923]
The 1959/60 budget year, the first under Chinn’s presidency, broke the all-time record in donation proceeds forwarded by the Commission to the JNF—£842,000. In honour of Israel’s thirteenth anniversary, the Commission decided, in addition to a commitment to completing the Biranit project, to undertake to raise £150,000 for an additional afforestation project involving 450,000 trees as a bar-mitzva present to the country.[footnoteRef:18] This gesture gave various committees and organisations a platform on which they could raise funds for the dedication of parts of the forest to community dignitaries. A case in point is Edith Wolffsohn, wife of the noted philanthropist, for whom 50,000 trees were planted. The UK Zionist Federation donated 10,000 trees on the occasion of the knighting of its president, Barnett Janner. The forest was handed over to the State of Israel at a gala Independence Day event at the Dorchester Hotel in 1961. Planted at Migdal Ha’emek across from the Balfour Forest, it [אותו יער?] was named for Lady Edwina Mountbatten, who had just died and left a sizable estate that she had received from her grandfather, Sir Ernest Cassel. Cassel, of Jewish-Prussian origin, had emigrated to Liverpool in the middle of the nineteenth century and had amassed great wealth. Lady Mountbatten's husband, Lord Louis Mountbatten, Prince Philip’s uncle and an admiral in the British fleet, paid an eight-hour blitz visit to Israel on the occasion of the forest-planting ceremony—making him the first member of the British Royal family to visit the country. The two related aristocrats, Lord Mountbatten and Prince Philip, maintained warm relations with the Commission. Prince Philip, a patron of the British National Playing Fields Association, received donations from JNF CT for the organisation over the years and was a guest at several events organised by the Commission.[footnoteRef:19]	Comment by JA: JNF CT gave to the the British National Playing Fields Association? [18:  JC, 11 November 1960.]  [19:  JC, 8 April 1966.] 

[p. 135 top: photo]
[Figure 81: Presenting the Korazim project at the 1961 annual conference.]
Once the fundraising for the Biranit and Bar Mitzvah Forest projects was completed, the Commission decided to fund a new regional-settlement development project in the Korazim area north of Lake Kinneret, while the YJNF, now numbering some 3,600 members, independently chose to raise funds for the development of Mt. Meron. The basis of the idea of developing Korazim was to establish four localities in that area, including a rural centre that would provide all administrative and cultural services for the others. Korazim was the largest project that the Commission had adopted to date; its support continued throughout the 1960s (each of its various commissions sponsoring a different ‘stone’ in the mosaic of the project). As the Commission stewarded the development of this area step-by-step as part of its flagship project, each year marked another stage in the progress of the settlement enterprise that Yosef Weitz had conceived as part of a broader ‘frontier strongholds’ scheme. In the first stage (1961), it was decided to raise within one year the £500,000 that was needed to prepare the land, build roads, and plant half a million trees. Soon afterward, in November 1961, a group from the Nahal pioneering youth organisation settled the first frontier outpost that had been designated for establishment in the area. The soldiers at this location, which would evolve into Moshav Almagor, were ‘adopted’ by members of nearby Kibbutz Amiad, which had been founded by alumni of the Habonim training farm in Britain.[footnoteRef:20] Chinn and his wife visited Korazim and Almagor in March 1962. In August of that year, some eighty members of the YJNF commissions in Dublin attended the ceremonial planting of the young people’s forest on Mt. Meron, a year after they had visited in order to dedicate the Ma’ale Hatse’irim project on the mountain.[footnoteRef:21] [20:  Ma’ariv, 30 November 1961.]  [21:  Ma’ariv, 5 August 1962.] 

[Figure 82: Almagor. Yosef Weitz addresses members of the Nahal unit on the day of their settlement at the outpost. November 1961]
[p. 136: photos]
[Figure 84: Chinn and his wife at Almagor]
[Figure 85: Ma’ale HaTseirim plaque on Mt. Meron]
After record revenues in 1960, the next two years saw a perceptible decline that troubled the Commission immensely. Most of the Commission’s income, as stated, came from the Joint Appeal, which was setting new records each year. It is true that, under the agreement between the funds, the Commission benefited from this increase in revenues, but they covered only some of the sizable downturn in the income of the Events Department, whereas the proceeds of the 50,000 Blue Boxes (every other household in England had one!) and from recording names in the Golden Book remained stable. Various cost-cutting ideas were raised, including finding new quarters that the Commission would share with the Joint Appeal and the UK Zionist Federation; a proposal to this effect, however, was implemented only five years later. After a trenchant debate at the annual conference about the need to rebrand the Commission, the board received several new members. The moment of the young people to move to the front of the stage had come, and the Commission board gave them a broad mandate to do this and to lead the way.
[Figure 86: Kibbutz Ma’ale Hagilboa, 1963. Source: Nadav Mann, Bitmuna, from the Sturman House Archive Collection]
In November 1962, a Nahal unit associated with the Bnei Akiva movement set out for Mt. Gilboa to establish Kibbutz Ma’ale Hagilboa. Due to difficulty in finding a way to fund the construction of a road to the kibbutz, the JNF turned to the YJNF and asked it to fundraise for such a road starting at Bet Alfa. It was the largest funding project that the YJNF had undertaken to that time, and they accepted the challenge by promising to raise the sum within two years.[footnoteRef:22] In fact, it took them less than a year to meet the target, bringing in £100,000 in donations to build the road, seven metres wide and eight and a half kilometres long, thus expediting the development of the isolated mountaintop settlement. In August 1963, ninety-two young people visited Israel to attend the dedication of the road.[footnoteRef:23] [22:  CZA, KKL5/28652, leaflet for Ma’ale Hagilboa project, 1965.]  [23:  Hatzofe, 25 August 1963.] 

[p. 138: photos]
In a special insert in the Jewish Chronicle ahead of the second conference [של מי?, ], to be held in November 1963, a map listing and showing the Commission’s main projects since the establishment of statehood was provided. The list of projects also had a new entry: raising £1 million over two years for the development of the West Galilee town of Ma’alot, most of whose residents were immigrants from North Africa.[footnoteRef:24] This was an ambitious sum given the decrease in revenues in the previous two years, but it based itself on the resumption of the upward march of income in 1963 and, in the main, the Commission’s faith in its ability to deal with the challenge. At the conference of the JNF European Bureau, held in October of that year, the JNF administration officially launched a special fundraising campaign for the Galilee settlement. There, the head of the British delegation addressed the participants, observing: ‘The Jews of Britain are contributing more money to the JNF than all localities in Europe combined’. He then shared his body’s vast experience in raising funds efficiently and described the courses of action that were taken.[footnoteRef:25] [24:  JC, 1 November 1963.]  [25:  Herut, 29 October 1963.] 

In April 1964, as part of the Ma’alot development plan, a cornerstone was laid next to Ahihud for the construction of a twelve-metre-high observation tower and the planting of a 100,000-tree forest that the Commission named for its president, Chinn, and his wife, Susan, in appreciation of his leadership and endeavours for the Commission and the State of Israel. The members of WIZO UK joined the Ma’alot project and raised funds for planting 20,000 trees and creating a public park for children. At first, WIZO intended to use the money to expand the library at Ma’alot, build a reading hall, and put up an open-air theater. Due to limitations on defining the objectives of charitable goals (settling impoverished Jews; promoting and developing agriculture; building synagogues, schools, universities, and hospitals; readying land, and so on), the funds could be used only for the establishment of the public park.
[Figure 88: right: Mitzpe Chinn at Amihud. Left: the forest dedication ceremony]
[Figure 87: Bloch Forest at Ma’alot, 1964. Source: JNF Archives.]
[Figure 89: plaque commemorating the golfers’ donation for the construction of public buildings at Moshav Almagor. Source: JNF Photo Archive]
The JNF administration in Israel saw the entire Ma’alot project as something imposed upon it:
An unsuccessful enterprise from its outset because the JNF does not engage in building cities. We handed over much of the money under duress for activities that are not ours. There is no further room for land preparation, and afforestation alone does not suffice because the donors think they are building a city.[footnoteRef:26] [26:  CZA, KKL5/28652, Leichter to Tsur, 29 October 1964. For correspondence with the Commission in the UK, see, for example, Brull [איות משוער] to Osterley, 13 July 1965, and Osterley to WIZO UK, 24 May 1965.] 

Similar remarks were exchanged between various correspondents and Osterley, treasurer of the UK Commission. Several additional personal projects were donated toward the effort in Ma’alot. The Glasgow committee, for example, donated a forest in appreciation of Sir Maurice Bloch.[footnoteRef:27] When the golfers approached Rabbi Dr. Isaac Levy by means of the JNF administration’s representative in the UK and asked him to choose a project that they could adopt, they stressed that the project had to comply with the restrictions in the definition of a charitable fund. Consequently, they explained, projects they could support could not be associated with leisure and recreation but rather with the settlement of people on land that would improve their lives.[footnoteRef:28] Just the same, the Commission reinstated its support of Ma’alot a decade later. In September of that year, a delegation of thirty-eight golfers visited the town and received a festive welcome organised by the director of the JNF British Commonwealth Department, J. Brill [איות משוער], at Almagor in the Galilee. A year later, the golfers donated £80,000 for the development of Moshav Shetula. [27:  Maurice Bloch (1883–1964), born in Scotland, owner of a family oil-refining business, held a series of leadership positions in the Jewish community of Glasgow and in Jewish and Zionist organisations.]  [28:  CZA, KKL5/28658, JNF representative in the UK, from Isaac Levy to Levi of the JNF administration, 14 July 1965.] 

[Figure 23: Frame from a film in the Israel Film Archive: dedication of a forest in the presence of Churchill’s daughter]
Another project that the Commission announced in May 1965 was the launching of a special £100,000 appeal to plant a forest of 300,000 pines in memory and appreciation of the feats of the British statesman and Prime Minister Winston Churchill, who had died early that year. After his widow gave her consent, it was decided that the forest would be planted near the Balfour Forest.[footnoteRef:29] Two years later, the fundraising was completed and the ceremony took place in the presence of members of the family.[footnoteRef:30] [29:  Ma’ariv, 1 May 1965.]  [30:  Documentation of the ceremony is kept at the Israel Film Archive: https://jfc.org.il/news_journal/59908-2/101847-2/ ] 

In 1965, the Commission moved its headquarters to the Rex House at 4–12 Regent Street, S.W.I., near Piccadilly Circus. At long last, the main Zionist entities in Britain—the English Zionist Federation, the Jewish Agency, the Joint Appeal, and the representative offices of additional associations—gathered under one roof. Although the underlying idea was to centralise all Zionist activity in the UK, the goal was attained only in part—the Religious Department of the Jewish Agency, including the Mizrachi, Bnei Akiva, and Torah Vaavoda movements—did not join the others, and neither did the WIZO women’s organisation.
[Figure 90: the Rex House on Regent Street—the Commission’s headquarters from 1965 onward. Source: London Film Archive]
After the land preparation work at Biranit was completed, the Commission announced at its annual meeting its decision to take further part in developing the area and undertook to raise £650,000 to develop Moshav Netua, the first cooperative settlement among the four that had been planned (Zar’it, Shetula, and Hazon were the others), of which Biranit was supposed to be the rural hub. It was the first year in the Commission’s history when it managed to break through the £1 million revenue barrier. This sum may be slightly misleading, however, because the increase was the result of an upturn in Joint Appeal revenues whereas all the Commission’s traditional fundraising avenues saw declines. The YJNF joined the elders by undertaking to raise £100,000 for the project. The endeavours of the various branches of JNF-UK for projects in Israel were not overlooked by the chair of the JNF, Jacob Tsur, who noted: ‘In the course of our regular work, a greater connection to the concrete programs of the [Jewish National] Fund is perceived in Britain than in any other country. They are really and truly interested in Korazim, Biranit, and the like; they come to visit these places, send their relatives there, and strongly identify with the achievements’.[footnoteRef:31] Not only the elders made an impression with their devotion; the YJNF also drew compliments from the members of the JNF administration who were invited to the young people’s annual conferences: [31:  CZA, KKL5/28633, Jacob Tsur to Senta Josephtal (who had been invited to speak at the Commission’s annual conference), 25 November 1965.] 

[Figure 91: Invitation to the planting ceremony at Netua, August 1966. CZA, KKL5/30825]
For me, the conference […] was a performance the likes of which I had not found in any other country until now. […] The very fact that more than 300 young people, aged 20–30, sat from 10:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. to hear reports and debate their methods of practical work for the JNF was a unique demonstration and the keynote speaker, Walter Eytan, […] rightly felt that a conference in such a form could not take place in France or any other country in Europe, that the young people taking part in the conference have a civil-parliamentarian education, and, aside from this, are psychologically willing to run it and guide it in carrying out its undertakings to the public.
The visitor concluded his letter by noting the need to establish similar organisations in other countries along the lines of this model and to use the same young British Jews to help get the job done.[footnoteRef:32] [32:  Ibid., S. Levi of JNF administration to head office, 16 October 1964.] 

In 1966, the young people split the ranks again. The engaged and married couples among them realised that their social needs were different from those of the singles and that outreach to their population group should be different from that to the unmarried young. The young couples separated in order to establish separate committees that would be called JNF Fellowships and adopted special names as well. From that year on, the Commission was composed of three distinct groups that maintained separate events, tailored to the social status of each; separate annual events; and separate financial targets for projects of their own. Since all three sought to raise funds for the JNF, the events overlapped somewhat, extensive cooperation took place, and each group helped the others to succeed.
At the end of the Netua project, the Commission went on to adopt the development of the second moshav in the project, Hazon, as its flagship project for 1967, and set the fundraising goal for this purpose at £800,000 within one year. As the months passed, troubles in Israel’s relations with its Arab neighbors escalated and reached a boiling point on 5 June 1967, when Israel Air Force craft attacked military bases and airfields in Egypt, Syria, Jordan, and Iraq. Several days earlier, 10,000 Jews in Britain marched from Hyde Park to the Lexington Palace gardens, where Israel had its embassy in Britain, in an expression of solidarity with Israel. Among the speakers at the rally were representatives of the Commission. In the course of the ensuing Six-Day War, Israel conquered extensive territories in Sinai, the Gaza Strip, the Golan Heights, the West Bank, and East Jerusalem, tripling the land under its control. The military achievement, engineered by the Chief of General Staff, Yitzhak Rabin, made an enormous impact. Continued tension on the Egyptian and Jordanian fronts (to become known as the War of Attrition) and concern for the country’s fate were manifested in the near-doubling of the Commission’s income to slightly over £1,800,000 by the end of 1967.[footnoteRef:33] Much of the credit for this belongs to the Joint Appeal, which automatically responded at once with an emergency drive that raised a record £13 million. [33:  KA, G62/4, financial statement for 1967/68.] 

[p. 143, photos]
For 1968, the Commission decided to participate in an appeal for planting a forest in memory of those who had fallen in the wars—the Peace Forest—on the slopes of the Armon Hanatziv Hill in Jerusalem, and resolved to raise £250,000 in order to prepare land for the establishment of two settlements (Moshav Be’er Tzofar and another) in the central Arava Valley. Concurrently, the YJNF undertook the funding of land preparation for the establishment of a second settlement at Korazim (not yet named). The Fellowship group, in turn, chose to continue supporting Moshav Netua.
[Figure 92: A YJNF delegation visits Korazim Bet]
Riding the rising tide of community support for Israel, the Commission’s fundraising events got bigger and bigger. It was the Events Department that reaped the most. All revenues from the gala evening with a performance by Sammy Davis Jr. in Britain were donated to JNF CT. When Israeli Prime Minister Levi Eshkol died in office, the Commission pledged to raise donations for a forest in his name near Deganya Bet.
[p. 144, two photographs]
While the JNF now turned its attention to preparing and developing the new territories acquired in the war, the UK Commission, its revenues largely recorded via the Charitable Fund, had to limit itself to ongoing support of projects in geographical regions that were not politically controversial. All territories beyond the Green Line—Israel’s’ frontier with Egypt, Jordan, Syria, Lebanon, as established in the 1949 armistice accords—were omitted from the Commission’s geographical purview and so remain to this day. This was for good reason because, when the Commission began to seek a new executive director in anticipation of Osterley’s retirement in October 1968, it explicitly specified that the new official be a man [דווקא גבר?] aged 35–45 who had a degree in law, ‘so he may cope with the growing legal problems of a charitable organisation’. [לא כך במודעה המצולמת בעמ' 144. האם זה ממקור אחר?][footnoteRef:34] [34:  JC, 26 April 1968.] 

The ‘legal problems’ that the Commission faced for the first time found expression, among other things, in a demand from British MPs to investigate the use of its money in Israel for what they termed military settlement projects in the occupied territories. HM Treasury looked into the matter but found no proof of the charges.[footnoteRef:35] The criticism, however, did not remain within the confines of Parliament. Anti-Israel elements ran a critique in the monthly Free Palestine, published in London, of Prince Philip and Princess Margaret (the Queen’s sister) for what they called the royals’ support of Zionist goals, manifested in the participation of members of the royal house in dinners that the Commission organised in Britain. The royal house chose to disregard the charges and the Duke of Edinburgh again attended the Commission’s festive dinner as demonstrations took place outside the hall.[footnoteRef:36] As best as is known, these were the first demonstrations aimed directly at the Commission’s activity and the first public demand by anti-Israel elements to terminate support of the organisation. These attacks and similar accusations were harbingers of additional threats, struggles, and boycott calls that the Commission would have to deal with in the future. [35:  JC, 5 December 1969.]  [36:  JC, 26 September and 3 October 1969.] 

[p. 145, photo from JC]
[Figure 93: demonstration outside the event. Source: JC]
The year 1969 ended with a 30 percent downturn in revenues. As drastic as that was, it did not faze the Commission because it considered this a leveling-off after the spike in donations fueled by the euphoria following the Six-Day War. The YJNF, now composed of some forty different committees and having become the Commission’s leading age group, followed the elders’ lead and decided to participate in funding the development of 40 hectares of land for the construction of the Ketura outpost (subsequently Kibbutz Ketura) in the Arava Valley.[footnoteRef:37] Given the wide variety of projects that the Commission and the YJNF had adopted in Israel, it was decided that the participants would hold their 1970 annual conference there. The main consideration behind this was to allow the devoted activists to see their projects up close and enjoy a two-week study tour that would give them unmediated acquaintance and an opportunity to meet with political leaders. Due to scanty enlistment, the excursion did not take place as planned and the annual conference was held in London. [37:  CZA, KKL5/50384, preparations for young people’s visit to Ketura, 21 July 1970.] 

[Figure 96: Invitation to planting a family grove. JC, 27 January 1967]
[p. 146, photos. Figure 94, Clockwise: donors’ plaques—Frieda Eisner, Coleman Levin, Glasgow Plantation, Angel]
The hallmark events of the 1960s, one may definitely say, were the self-mobilisation of the young, which, together with the veterans, boosted the Commission’s corps of activists to some 10,000—a large majority on a volunteer basis—and the stationing of a Blue Box in every second household. The young people introduced new fundraising methods that were linked to social activities, strengthening the bonds among themselves and between them and Israel. Their events included charity marches, sports activities, beauty contests, balls, celebrations, and the adoption of multiple large land preparation projects in Israel from south to north. Each project had a continuation phase relating to the development of the locality; this was undertaken by committees, groups, or associations within the framework of projects that the Commission promoted in order to commemorate loved ones and family members by planting forests or groves—inducing a strong community response. For lack of space in this document, only some are presented: the Glasgow committee raised funds for planting a fruit orchard in the Jezreel Valley in 1963. That year, the family of Frieda Eisner of Birmingham planted a forest at Massuah (Jerusalem corridor) in her memory. Another forest at Massuah, the same year, was donated by the Southend and Westcliff commission in memory of Angel, a member of the Commission. The same commission contributed in 1960 to the construction of a fire-outlook station at Harel in honour of Coleman Levin and his wife, who were again honoured in 1964 with the planting of a forest in their names in Korazim. In the latter year, the Dublin Jewish community donated a forest in the Elah Valley (Jerusalem corridor) in memory of Isaac Halevi Herzog, Chief Rabbi of the UK before he immigrated to Israel with his family. The skein of donations stretched farther and farther.
The Commission launched its eighth decade of activity in Britain with the first-ever visit of a study delegation from the Young Couples Committee, which would become a permanent annual tradition.[footnoteRef:38] In a display of empathy and sympathy for the three million Russian Jews behind the Iron Curtain and their struggle for emigration visas to Israel, the Commission proposed to the administration in Jerusalem the planting of a three-million-tree forest on the western slopes of the Jerusalem Hills. Although fundraising drives for the project were prepared in Britain over the course of the year, the project ultimately did not go ahead. In 1971, the Commission focused on several endeavours in the Negev and the Arava Valley—including raising £260,000 for the development of Moshav Idan, preparing 210 hectares and planting ornamental vegetation at Moshav Ohad in the Negev, and an appeal for the purchase of mechanical equipment and farm implements for the development of the Arava. The flagship project for the next two years, titled S.O.S. Galilee, focused on raising £869,000 to prepare land for thirty-three settlements along the Lebanese border in northern Galilee. Commission revenues set another record in 1972, with more than £2,000,000 forwarded to Jerusalem. The YJNF, in turn, set its own ambitious target: raising £250,000 in donations over three years (1973–1975). Its first idea was to fund the establishment of a central clinic at Goren. Eventually, however, for reasons of security, it was decided to set up four clinics in locations on the Lebanese frontier.[footnoteRef:39] [38:  CZA, KKL5/50384, summary of visit, 4 December 1970.]  [39:  JC, 20 October 1972.] 

[Figure 97: JC, 26 March 1971.]
[p. 148: photographs]
[Figure 24: Monument at the top of Mt. Devora]
For the silver wedding anniversary of Queen Elizabeth II and the Duke of Edinburgh, the Commission approached the Queen and obtained her go ahead to plant another forest in her honour. (As will be remembered, the Commission had awarded her a forest as the community’s gift for her coronation, planted near the Balfour Forest.) The second forest was a gift that expressed all of Commonwealth Jewry’s loyalty and appreciation of the Queen. A festive appeal for the forest was launched and the target was soon met in full. The 60,000 card-carrying members of the Zionist Federation mobilised for this appeal, but so did institutions and organisations that were not identifiably Zionist.[footnoteRef:40] The forest, with its million and a half trees and its cost of half a million sterling, was arrayed on the slopes of Mt. Devora in the Galilee near Nazareth, not far from the coronation forest. A monument that commemorates the event stands on the hilltop. A special volume including the names of all donors to the forest was presented to Prince Philip in May 1973 by the Chief Rabbi of the UK at a festive ceremony at the Guildhall, with 700 community dignitaries in attendance. The celebrants were only mildly discomfited by the handful of pro-Arab demonstrators who protested outside the venue. In the course of the ceremony, the Prince thanked, in his name and for the Queen, the Commission and the donors for the gift, which they considered part of an important effort to rectify harm inflicted in the past: [40:  JC, 8 December 1972.] 

We are deeply grateful to the Jewish National Fund and to all the people who made a contribution to this token gift. We are also delighted that it should form part of an immensely important effort to repair the damage of the past.[footnoteRef:41] [41:  JC, 11 May 1973.] 

At the dedication ceremony of the forest, a letter of gratitude from the Queen was read out: ‘I deeply appreciate this affirmation of loyalty on behalf of my Jewish subjects’.[footnoteRef:42] [42:  JC, 13 September 1974.] 

[p. 149: Figure 26: Greeting cards to the State of Israel for its twenty-fifth anniversary]
[p. 149: Hebrew teaching comic strip for children, Junior Chronicle, 11 May 1973]
Along with fundraising, the Education Department engaged steadily in Zionist education and inculcation of love of the State of Israel among children in the community. The appeal to schoolchildren was made through their teachers, to whom the department provided locally produced scholastic materials, books, pamphlets, and so on. Special events for children continued—swimming contests; distribution of best-wishes postcards for Israel for mailing ahead of Israel Independence Day; the Jerusalem Flag Festival; sponsorship of musical performances during Jewish Music Month; the annual Children’s Choir Week festival, in which children from Jewish schools sang Land of Israel songs in Hebrew; knowledge quizzes; establishing children’s clubs (with a pledge to plant one tree every year as the membership fee), etc. Many of the activities were reported in the Junior Chronicle, the children’s column of the Jewish Chronicle).
Not everyone greeted this activity with open arms. The main difficulty that the Education Department faced was in trying to expose children to Zionist content not only in Jewish day schools but also, and mainly, in supplemental religious education settings. The Commission realised that these institutions, attended by many children and adolescents who received Talmud and Hebrew lessons on Sundays in synagogues, considered Judaism and Hebrew central but devoted little if any attention to Zionism.[footnoteRef:43] The problem affected not only the Commission but also additional Zionist organisations that attempted to surmount the defense mechanisms of Orthodox education. The Zionist entities agreed unanimously that the difficulty in breaking through was based on parents’ concern that their children might wish to ‘make ‘aliya’.[footnoteRef:44] [43:  JC, 28 January 1955.]  [44:  JC, 30 March 1973.] 

In June 1973, the heads of the Joint Appeal—Michael Sacher, erstwhile president and treasurer of the Commission and now president of the Appeal; and his deputy, Trevor Chinn, another product of the Commission—renamed their enterprise the Joint Israel Appeal (JIA), retiring its previous name, the Joint Palestine Appeal, once and for good.[footnoteRef:45] In August 1973, the Commission organised its first pro-am golf tournament, which proved hugely successful due to the 120 celebrities and numerous professional golfers who took part and the crowd of 1,500 onlookers, all proceeds accruing to the Commission. Thus, the events succeeded one another, revenues skyrocketed, the committees attained their annual targets if not beyond, and young people, true to form, reveled ceaselessly and also managed to attain record revenues each year as they did so. They managed to raise half of the three-year fundraising target for the establishment of clinics in the Galilee in one year. [45:  JC, 29 June 1973.] 

UK Jewry was unprepared for the war that would break out in Israel in the middle of Yom Kippur 1973. Several days before the autumn festivals, the press still carried massive advertisements that invited groups and individuals to sign up for organised trips to and festival celebrations in Israel. The war, defined in the British press as an aggression by Egypt and Syria, broke out on 6 October 1973. Immediately some 5,000 young people in Britain—Jews and non-Jews—signed up as volunteers for the war. The Board of Deputies (BOD), the body that represented the community at all levels, convened for emergency consultations and urged all members of the community to steer all possible moral and practical support to Israel. All across the UK, stands for money and blood donations for Magen David Adom were set up, support rallies with tens of thousands of participants took place, and special prayer services were held in synagogues. The JIA responded at once, convening its hundreds of activists in the Weizmann Room at the Rex House, moving up its annual fundraising events by declaring them an immediate emergency appeal, and doubling the annual target sum for collection within six to eight weeks. To enable the JIA to turn full attention to its mission at once, the Commission set up an emergency committee of its own and took over the JIA’s responsibility for handling the traditional Kol Nidrei campaign held in synagogues. All proceeds of the Kol Nidrei campaign went to the reinforcement of frontier localities in the Galilee, including Kiryat Shemona, Ma’alot, Safed, and Shamir. The war, a wound in the heart of the Jewish public in Israel and worldwide, yielded record donations in Britain.[footnoteRef:46] [46:  JC, 31 August 1973. [שמא 1974? אחרת, איך הנושא זכה להתייחסות בעתון באוגוסט?]] 

[p. 151: 2 photos]
At the final annual conference for 1973, the Commission’s director of finance, Cecil M. Bianco, was elected president. Chinn, resigning after fourteen years of service on the Commission, was made honorary president for life and would remain active on the Commission’s behalf for many years to come. In the course of the conference, rumors began to circulate about the wish of the ‘big sister’—the JIA—to have the Commission forgo its share in the appeal. Chinn and the President of JIA, Michael Sacher, denied the rumors firmly. Despite the attempt to present a united front, however, there was substance to the matter behind the scenes. The JIA had asked the Commission to halt all of its planned events during all months of the campaign, particularly those of the YJNF and the married couples, and to pledge all of its activists’ exertions to JIA fundraising events. The Commission found the request hard to accept, fearing that such a lengthy moratorium might impair its status in the UK and its revenues, and argued that its activists should not be asked to act for the JIA because some of them might not identify with the goals of the Jewish Agency, the JIA’s forebear. After mulling it over, the sides decided to work out a compromise for a new arrangement in sharing the proceeds and not to accept the moratorium in order to maintain the Commission’s relevance and special complexion in the community. The immediate price of this agreement was a major cutback in the Commission’s share of JIA revenues and a decrease in its own income.[footnoteRef:47] Even so, the Commission’s income that year came to £2 million. Nevertheless, the YJNF did not spare its criticism of the board’s sizable expenditure on thirty salaried staff members at its London headquarters. Headquarters explained that these expenses consumed only 10 percent of all revenues plus 10 percent that went for education, culture, and promotion. Still, Bianco listened and promised organisational change.[footnoteRef:48] [47:  KA, G72/3, notes of the director of finance to the financial statements for the year ending in June 1974. ]  [48:  JC, 7 December 1973.] 

[P. 152. Figure 27: From children in Britain to Israel—scholarships for Yom Kippur War orphans, Jewish Chronicle, 23 August 1974.]
The greatest difficulty that the Commission now faced was how to justify its existence separately and autonomously from the JIA, which brought in six times as much annual income as the Commission and required fewer human and administrative resources in so doing. The Commission explained its uniqueness as a fund that appealed to all strata of the community and not only to a specific portion that turned its attention to less than 20 percent of the community. ‘We are inclusive and not exclusive’, the vigorous Executive Director of JNF-UK, Rabbi Dr. Levy, explained in an interview on the topic. The JNF’s singularity, he argued, centered more on values than on being a mere checkbook; the JNF focuses on land development whereas the JIA stresses aid for immigration to Israel; only the Commission gives the community an equal opportunity to express identification and partnership with the Zionist enterprise by offering economic support—small and large alike, as best they could afford—to the State of Israel. Levy went on to define the Commission’s activity as a link based on an emotional connection, noting as an example the contributions collected by children in the UK toward annual scholarships for Yom Kippur War orphans. Furthermore, he noted the Commission’s role as a magnet for people under age twenty-five to display interest in Israel. He noted with satisfaction that some 145 different committees operated under the Commission’s umbrella—roughly fifty young people’s organisations, twenty-five or so committees of young couples, and approximately seventy commissions of ‘elders’—and that the Commission maintained daily direct contact with the community utilizing the 50,000 Blue Boxes that served as evidence of its quotidian presence and role in community life, surpassing the JIA’s fundraising method of recording financial pledges once per year.[footnoteRef:49] [49:  JC, 25 January 1974.] 

Another manifestation of fissure in the connection between the JIA and the Commission was the former’s decision to desist from subsidising the publication of Britain’s only Zionist weekly, the Federation journal and Commission mouthpiece the Jewish Observer and Middle East Review,[footnoteRef:50] due to its high costs, thereby threatening it with closure. Perhaps in defiance, the Commission decided to launch its annual campaign under the title ‘Salute to Israel’, appealing mainly to that stratum of the community that had not been donating to the JIA either for lack of resources or due to reluctance to identify with the population of JIA donors. Additional tension erupted when the JIA slashed its allocations of funds for the YJNF’s activity in Britain. The winds that blew (or, to be more precise, blew anew) were of competition and tension between the Zionist funds in Britain. In the middle of this turbulence, the Commission took another blow with the sudden death in March 1974 of its serving Executive Director, Ronald Nathan, at the age of only fifty-four years. His successor, David Slade, took over at an especially challenging time. [50:  The weekly, circulated in 12,000 copies, replaced the Zionist Review in 1952 and served as the mouthpiece of Zionism in the UK and a regular platform for advertising the activity of the Commission as a substitute for publishing a bulletin of its own. After the JIA stopped supporting the publication, the Jewish Agency in Jerusalem subsidised its distribution for three additional years even though its circulation dropped to only 4,000 copies during that time. In 1977, when the Jewish Agency’s subsidy was also terminated, the paper closed down. ___ [סט’י], 29 December 1977.] 

[P. 153. Figure 29: JNF News banner]
[P. 153. Figure 28: David Slade]
During his brief (three-year) term of service, the Commission contributed toward the Ben-Gurion Forest in Dimona and hosted the first visit of the Jerusalem Symphony Orchestra in the UK in November 1974. At the 1975 conference, the young couples division adopted a project at Keziv, helping establish a leisure and recreation park including playing fields, picnic grounds, and a fishing pond (Montfort Park) in Ma’alot for £500,000 to be raised over two years. The division, with its 1,500 members in fifty-five committees, also decided to raise £250,000 for Ma’alot[footnoteRef:51] over three years. It chose Ma’alot to express solidarity with the town, where a murderous terror attack on 15 May 1974 is still considered one of the most traumatic in Israel’s history. A delegation from the young people’s division came to observe the Keziv project in the summer of 1975 and visited its previous projects in the Galilee during its two-week stay. That summer, the Commission decided again to issue its own bulletin, this time in the format of a biweekly magazine titled Hakeren, instead of its two-page advertisements in the Jewish Observer. [Jewish Chronicle?] [51:  CZA, KKL5/53065, England, Ma’alot Project 1977 file.] 

[p. 154: 2 photos + Figure 30: Premier edition of Hakeren, 1975. Source: JNF Archive (original photo in the author’s possession)]
In the second half of the 1970s, tension began to build up among the members of the Commission’s board over the organisation’s image and the nature of its growth. The young people and the married couples pushed for the establishment of more and more committees for their age group in order to give the Commission a more youthful and vigorous character that would revise the image that had clung to it in the community as an anachronistic, antiquated, and ‘heavy’ organisation that focused on tree-planting donations and Blue Boxes. The young couples’ committees protested that even though the Commission had decided to focus on expansion together with their committees in theory, the elders refrained from following through and even torpedoed initiatives in that direction.[footnoteRef:52] The ‘young people’s rebellion’ gave the Commission a headache in another way. In a fundraising event arranged by one of the new Fellowships, professional strippers were invited to perform naked on stage to the cheers of the 400 titillated invitees. Were this not enough, Playboy Bunnies circulated in the crowd, selling raffle tickets. The event was a rousing success and the wallets opened generously. When the content was leaked, however, a minor scandal erupted in the community press and much criticism (positive or negative) ensued, ranging from profound shock, via comments about the threat of moral corruption in the community, to attacks on puritanism in view of the card games, raffles, gambling, and viewing of violent sports that were part of the culture of much of the community. Either way, neither strippers nor bunnies were invited to additional Commission events and the scandal was put to rest with a mild apology from the YJNF.[footnoteRef:53] [52:  JC, 17 October 1975.]  [53:  JC, 10 October 1975.] 

[P. 155: 2 photos]
At the YJNF annual conference, held about a month later, the participants were warned to make no mention whatsoever of the scandal. They had other matters to deal with—a decline in donation income, originating in fundraising difficulties in London due to a surfeit of charitable institutions there that competed for the same wallet and a paucity of participants in the Commission’s events due to security arrangements that were becoming more and more onerous due to growing threats against Jewish institutions, organisations, and activities in the UK.[footnoteRef:54] Despite the restrictions and the rivalries, the provincial commissions managed to meet their fundraising targets for various projects that they had adopted, including the Manchester committee’s undertaking in 1976 to help continue the rehabilitation of eighty families at Moshav Hosen, near Tarshiha, and that of the golfers who, that year, adopted the establishment of a forest recreation area at Keren Hacarmel (Mukhraka).[footnoteRef:55] [54:  JC, 28 November 1975.]  [55:  CZA, KKL5/53065, Keren Hacarmel Golfers’ Project File, 1977.] 

[P. 156: 3 photos + Figure 31: Backgammon competition, March 1976.]
The seventy-fifth anniversary of the JNF and the Commission was celebrated in the UK with an invitation to Israel’s iconic Jewish folklore troupe, We Are Here, to perform in Britain. Another large-scale event that year, British Jewry Salute Israel, took place in conjunction with almost all Zionist organisations in the UK. The ‘Israel wave’ that washed over the community led to an additional production in the Sabra spirit—a national backgammon competition that evolved into a social event in which 700 players (including some non-Jews) took part, with all income pledged to the Commission. The prize was funding for a two-week vacation in Las Vegas or £500 in cash.
Thrilled with the success of Operation Entebbe in July 1976, a heroic operation that freed almost all persons aboard a hijacked Air France craft who were being held hostage in Entebbe, Uganda, the Commission launched a campaign to plant the Heroes of Israel Forest at Modi’in to honour the commandos who had undertaken the operation. The sense of pride in the success of the intricate rescue also bolstered the year’s revenues of both the Commission and the JIA. The Commission managed to maintain the £2.1 million annual average that it had set from the beginning of the 1970s.
[P. 157, Figure 33: Incoming president, outgoing president—December 1976.]
[Figure 32: Unveiling the plaque—the Har Segev Project]
[Photo at bottom]
The year 1977 which was marked by upheaval in Israeli politics with the ascendancy of the Likud Party to power was also a tumultuous one in the Commission’s history. During the annual conference that concluded 1976, the younger generation managed to take over the presidency of the Commission. In new elections, Bianco was unseated and replaced with Anthony Corre, until then president of the YJNF.[footnoteRef:56] Pursuant to this outcome, many board members of the veteran Commission resigned and were replaced by younger people. The conference endorsed a fundraising target of £2.5 million over two years for land development in three localities in the Segev Bloc in the Galilee—Ya’ad, Shekhanya, and Manof[footnoteRef:57]—a project consistent with the five-year plan of the Government of Israel and the Jewish Agency for the creation of rural industrial blocs (Segev and Tefen) in the Galilee as part of a broader Galilee settlement plan that would become known as the Mitzpim (Overlook Settlements) scheme. [56:  JC, 3 December 1976.]  [57:  CZA, KKL5/53065, correspondence concerning the Segev project, 23 December 1977.] 

One of the first tasks that awaited the new young president was the need to move out of the Rex House and find new quarters for the Commission. The official pretext for the measure was a decision by the JIA to cut expenses and move to new premises that were too cramped to accommodate the Commission as well. Actually and quite surprisingly, the JIA, the senior of the two bodies and the entity that largely ran the Zionist Federation, considered the Commission a rival and a threat to its status.[footnoteRef:58] The creation of a physical and ideological buffer between the Commission and the JIA posed the greatest challenge that the Commission had faced to that time—the need to redefine its identity, its role, and its positioning in the community and to surmount the ongoing erosion of its revenues due to the reapportionment of JIA proceeds.[footnoteRef:59] The Commission found the opportunity to justify its singularity in an appeal to the target population when the JIA, under the presidency of Sacher, decided, in one of its financial efficiency measures, to stop paying the salaries of the Jewish Agency emissaries to Britain and to stop allocating funds for Zionist educational activity among youth in the UK. It was a dramatic decision on the JIA’s part since Zionist education in Britain had long been a core concern of all Zionist entities in Britain, as they argued that the various Jewish education institutions were not devoting enough attention to Zionist education and Israel-related content. [58:  JC, 28 January 1977.]  [59:  KA, G72/3, Director of Finance’s appendix to the financial statements for the fiscal year ending in June 1977.] 

[P. 158: photos and Figure 34: Reaching out to the young in the press]
[Figure 35: Delegation at the opening ceremony of the Segev Bloc, September 1977]
The Commission’s response to the JIA decision came quickly; by Hanukkah that year, the Jewish Chronicle, in conjunction with the Commission’s Education Department, introduced a game with prizes attached: ‘How well do you know Israel?’ Most of the efforts were invested in encouraging more and more young people to join the activists’ ranks, the main message being a combination of values and lots of fun, a social platform for young people aged 18–30 acting for the State of Israel, and the purpose: not only to raise money but also to be actively involved, as reflected in educational trips to Israel and becoming closely acquainted with the place to which the Commission was contributing. The study mission of 1977, for example, officially opened Monfort Park and took part in a ceremony marking the silver anniversary of the reign of the Queen of England at the forest that the Commission had planted in her honour. It also visited the Commission’s projects in the Negev, Moshav Ohad in the Galilee, Moshav Goren, and the Segev Bloc. The excursion included visits to the Good Fence at Metulla, Jerusalem, and Kiryat Shemona, in addition to meetings with Moshe Rivlin, elected that year as the chair of the new JNF Board of Directors, among other personalities.
[P. 159: 3 photos and Figure 36: George Eliot Memorial Grove]
The many projects that the Commission had undertaken relating to events or personalities that the community appreciated continued to run at this time. One was a campaign to plant a forest in honour of Teddy Kollek, the Mayor of Jerusalem, on the tenth anniversary of the reunification of the city. Another forest, comprising 50,000 trees, was planted at Kafr Kanna in honour of a friend of the community, the Archbishop of Westminster, spiritual leader of the Catholic Church in Britain, John Carmel Cardinal Heenan. Also, a grove was planted near Tiberias in 1977 in memory of the Victorian author George Eliot, author of Daniel Deronda (1876), a novel that contained a sympathetic portrayal of Jews and the idea of the Return to Zion.
In late 1977, the Commission headquarters left central London and moved to new quarters: the Harold Poster House near Kingsbury Circle, named for the philanthropist who had donated the funds for its acquisition. Apart from its London headquarters, the Commission maintained offices in Birmingham, Dublin, Glasgow, Leeds, Liverpool, and Manchester. The outcomes of the tumultuous year became evident at the annual conference for 1977, which proved to be a down year with a dramatic decline in Commission revenues—from more than £2 million the previous year to less than £1.5 million, mainly due to the falloff of income from JIA participation. Of this sum, less than £1 million was sent on to Jerusalem that year.[footnoteRef:60] [60:  JC, 2 December 1977 [בטעות נרשם כ 2.11- בחיפוש באינטרנט יופיע בנובמבר]] 

[P. 160: Figure 37: Blue Boxes distributed in the UK, late 1970s and 1980s]
[Figure 38: Fundraising advertisement for the Segev Bloc, November 1977]
[Figure 39: Massuah Forest, donated by Jewish sportsmen in Manchester, 1976]
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